TN el e Ly -

NPS Form 10-900 N7 377 - . OMBNo.
1024-0018 (o

(Rev. 10-90)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
REGISTRATION FORM

This form is for use in nominating or requesting determinations for individual properties and districts. See instructions in How to Complete the National
Register of Historic Places Registration Form (National Register Bulletin 16A). Complete each item by marking "x" in the appropriate box or by entering the
information requested. If any item does not apply to the property being documented, enter “"N/A" for "not applicable.” For functions, architectural
classification, materials, and areas of significance, enter only categories and subcategories from the instructions. Place additional entries and narrative items

on continuation sheets (NPS Form 10-900a). Use a typewriter, word processor, or computer, to complete all items.

1. Name of Property

historic name Hay Estate

other names/site number __ “The Fells”

2. Location

street & number west side of NH 103 A, 2.2 miles north of the intersection not for publication
f NH 1 nd 103A in Newbury, NH
city or town __ Newbury NA| vicinity
state New Hampshire code NH  county Merrimack code 013 ___ zipcode 03255

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, | hereby certify that this D nomination O request for
determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural
and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property 8 meets O does not meet the National Register Criteria. | recommend
that this property be considered significant O nationally ® statewide O locally. (O See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

4 1/1/44

" Date

Signature of certi
New Hampshire
State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property (1 meets [J does not meet the National Register criteria. (J See continuation sheet for additional

com% ents) %L‘ q /Zl /200 N

Signature of commenting or other offici N 'Date |
(o5 Beshy el (1L ER Skevier
State or Federal agency and bureau
4. NAtional Park Service Certification 0
|, Hereby certify that this property is: V atyry of Keeper Nate of Action
J entered in the National Register g 9. m
O See continuation sheet. D474 /N s V) _ / 2

O determined eligible for the National Register
O See continuation sheet.
O determined not eligible for the National Register
O removed from the National Register
O other (explain):

-



Name of Property Hay Estate - County and State  Merrimack, NH Page# 2

5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
(Check as many boxes as apply) (Check only one box) (Do not include previously listed resources in the count)
O private O building(s) Contributing Noncontributing
O public-local Bdistrict 4 0 buildings
O public-State d site 8 0 sites
B public-Federal O structure 4 2 structures
O object 0 0 objects
16 2 Total
Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National Register 0

Name of related multiple property listing (Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)
NA

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (Enter categories from instructions) Current Functions (Enter categories from instructions)

Cat: Sub: Cat: Sub:

- DOMESTIC single dwelling RECREATIONAL/CULTURE museum
LANDSCAPE _garden LANDSCAPE conservation area
DOMESTIC secondary structure DOMESTIC secondary structure
DOMESTIC camp DOMESTIC camp
QTHER waterworks QTHER waterworks

7. Description

Architectural Classification Materials (
(Enter categories from instructions) Enter categories from instructions)
Colonial Revival foundation Stone

roof ____Asphalt

walls  Weatherboard

Wood

other NA

Narrative Description (Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)




Name of Property _Hay Estate

County and State  Merrimack, NH Page# 3

8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria (Mark "x" in
one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for
National Register listing)

@ A Property is associated with events that have
made a significant contribution to the broad
patterns of our history.

IZ(-_I B Property is associated with the lives of
persons significant in our past.

I)ZIC Property embodies the distinctive characteristics

of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses
high artistic values, or represents significant and
distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

[J D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield
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Her Brown, Clarence Hay, Alice H
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Description

Hay Estate — “The Fells,” 1891

The John Milton Hay Estate is a 164-acre tract of woodlands, fields, lawns, omamental gardens, and
structures located on the eastern shore of New Hampshire’s Lake Sunapee. A popular location for
summer homes and vacation hotels, with its first period of prosperity extending from 1890 to 1929, Lake
Sunapee is noted for its 1,092-foot elevation above sea level, its pure waters, and its scenic setting, which
is dominated by the nearby 2,743-foot peak of Mount Sunapee. Along with numerous landscaped
terraces, gardens and lawns, the Hay Estate includes an array of buildings significant for their function
within a large estate: the colonial revival summer house, a shingled Cape Cod-style gate lodge, a shingled
lakeshore cottage, a garage, a boat house and dock, and some small water-supply structures. All buildings
and landscaped sites contribute to the character and significance of the property.

The land of the estate slopes from a hilltop on the east toward the lake on the west, exhibiting gradients
between three and twenty-five percent. The land surface is irregular, strewn with glacially deposited
boulders of granite, and underlain with bedrock ledge that reveals itself in frequent outcroppings where
exposed by glacial action or by subsequent erosion. The topsoil is a sandy loam, ranging in geological
classification from "very rocky" to "extremely stony." The subsoil is glacial till of varying depths. A
border of glacially rounded stones and boulders largely defines the shoreline of the lake, although there
are approximately three hundred feet of sandy beach at the southwestern comer of the property.

The land supports a northern forest of mixed hardwood and softwood species. Among the hardwoods,
there are sugar maple, red maple, red oak, basswood, American beech, black locust, tupelo, aspen, and
black, yellow, and canoe birch. Softwood species include eastern white pine, eastern hemlock, red pine,
and red and white spruce. Some of the larger trees on the property, estimated to be over 200 years old,
are remnants of virgin climax forest. Inaccessible to nineteenth-century loggers, these trees escaped
harvesting when the land was cleared for agriculture.

The site of the summer house commands narrow vistas of Lake Sunapee through gaps in distant trees.
Above the trees, to the southwest, rises the dramatic mass of Mount Sunapee, the dominant peak in this
part of New Hampshire. The overall appearance of the estate’s site has changed little since the 1940s.
The summer house retains recognizable features of its evolution since the 1890s, making it an important
and well-documented example of the development of the summer home movement in New Hampshire
over the past century.

The nominated property is located between a two-lane highway (N.H. Route 103A) and the shore of Lake
Sunapee. The only structure visible from the road is the gate lodge, a story-and-a-half "Cape Cod"
cottage designed by architect Prentice Sanger in 1930 to suggest the appearance of local vernacular
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dwellings. Partly hidden behind stone walls, this house stands next to a gateway of mortared granite
fieldstones; beyond the gate, a one-lane gravel road winds westward to the summer house, which is
located more than a quarter of a mile from the highway.

Estate Buildings

1. Summer House, 1891, 1897 and c. 1915, Contributing Building

The summer house, originally designed by George Hammond in 1891, enlarged by Hammond in 1897,
and redesigned by Prentice Sanger in 1915, is a long, story-and-a-half gambrel-roofed building that
strongly expresses the Dutch colonial revival style. The structure is oriented in a general north-and-south
direction. Its original facade faces westward to command views of Lake Sunapee, about an eighth of a
mile distant, and of Mount Sunapee, which dominates the southern horizon. Extending eastward at right
angles to the main house is an ell of comparable design, providing kitchen, pantry, laundry, and bedrooms
for servants. All portions of the house and ell are constructed with balloon framing, and the exterior is
sheathed with white-painted clapboards.

Beginning in the 1890s, during their period of earliest occupancy at the estate, the Hay family generally
reached the property by railroad and steamboat. Architectural emphasis was originally placed on the
western side of the house, facing the Hay’s private dock. The Concord and Claremont Railroad had been
opened after the obstacle of a nearby hill was overcome by completion of the “Newbury Cut” in 1871.
Advent of the railroad had brought prosperity to local towns, making the region a destination for summer
tourists and seasonal residents like the Hays. From Lake Station in Newbury, the Hay family would
board one of the Woodsum Brothers’ steamboats, either the Kearsarge, the Armenia White, or the
Edmund Burke. These vessels delivered passengers, luggage, and local mail to private docks and made
regular stops at George’s Mills, Lakeside, Sunapee Harbor, Blodgett’s Landing, Lake Sunapee Landing,
Hastings, Soonipi, Burkehaven, Brightwood and Pinecliff.

As automobile travel became more reliable during the first decades of the twentieth century, the family
more frequently approached the house by road from the public highway on the east. This change in
approach to the estate spurred the need to make significant changes to the eastern elevation of the
dwelling. Elaborated by architectural and horticultural detail, the eastern facade gained formality as a
second main entrance for the summer house.

The house measures approximately 122 feet in length and 40 feet in depth. It stands on split granite
perimeter foundation walls and on fieldstone internal footings. The house has no excavated cellars except
for two boiler rooms located beneath the northern end of the main house and beneath part of the servants’
ell. The fenestration of the summer house is balanced but not rigidly symmetrical, with a variety of
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window sash designs. The broad planes of its gambrel roof are punctuated at intervals by shed-roofed
dormers with paired windows, and by five white-painted chimneys serving first and second story
fireplaces within the house. The main cross stairhall extends through the house just north of its mid-
point, and its presence is expressed on the exterior by a wide, gambrel cross gable extending the entire
depth of the building.

The western facade of the house, facing the lake, is marked by a main entrance below the cross gable and
by secondary entrances near the north and south end walls of the elevation. The main entrance is a
twelve-light, half-glass door with one-over-one, double hung, flanking windows. The secondary entrance
to the south (once the original main entryway) is a half-glass double door with diagonal muntins, flanked
by sidelight sashes with similar diagonal muntins. Another secondary entrance to the north has a twelve-
light, half-glass door. The northern doorway is separated from the main entrance by two casement
windows, while two intervening ten-light French doors separate the southern (older) entrance from the
newer main entrance below the cross gable. The cross gable is accentuated by a broad, three-part window
at the second floor level and a louvered semicircular arch that ventilates the attic. Much of the first story
is shaded by a deep, brick-floored shed-roofed porch. The porch is supported by eight Doric columns and
extends from the southern end of the house northward to the northern end of the cross gable. Until 1947,
this porch extended along the full length of the western facade of the house. The dormers and lower slope
of the gambrel roof on the western elevation are clad in red cedar shingles, while the flatter upper slope of
the roof has asphalt shingles (1992). The roof north of the cross gable has no dormers.

The northern elevation of the main house includes a broad, gambrel-roofed end wall with nine-over-nine
double hung windows symmetrically arranged within the first and second stories, and a glazed
semicircular window that ventilates the attic. The three second-story windows are larger in length and
width than the four windows on the first floor.

The eastern elevation of the house is treated as a second facade. This wall faces a circular automobile
courtyard paved with crushed stone and bordered by stone walls, shrubs, narrow grass borders, and
perennial beds. Like the opposite elevation, this side of the house is dominated by the broad expanse of
the gambrel cross gable, which defines a central axis for the elevation and frames a formal entrance. The
main fifteen-light glazed door beneath the cross gable is capped by an arched hood of colonial revival
design. This hood is supported by elliptical consoles projecting from either side of a four-light transom
window. Five-paned sidelights flank the doorway. Above the entrance is a three-part window at the
second story level, and a semi-circular louvered arch at the attic level. All roof surfaces on the east are
clad in asphalt shingles.

The servants’ ell, approximately fifty-one feet long, extends eastward from the main house and defines
the southern terminus of an automobile courtyard of 1916, known as the Pebble Court. Extending thirty
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feet beyond the residential portion of the servants’ ell is a garage built in 1947 and remodeled on the
interior in 1992 to provide public toilets. The first floor level of the servants’ ell and garage are screened
from the courtyard by a clipped hedge of yew and by a large Kousa dogwood. The gambrel roof and two
shed dormers, with their paired windows, thus become the ell’s predominant architectural features as seen
from the automobile courtyard.

The southern elevation of the house is divided into two zones. These zones are visually separated from
one another by a ten-foot-tall, mortared fieldstone wall, built in 1924, This wall runs north and south,
intersecting the southern ell of the house at the southwest corner of the servants’ wing. Extending 97 feet
south of the house, the wall shields the more formal part of the dwelling from the servants’ quarters. The
broad gambrel end gable of the main house dominates the facade west of the stone wall. On the first story
of this end elevation, pairs of French windows open onto a level lawn from two of the major rooms of the
dwelling, a library and a dining room. Above each set of doors, wisteria vines are trained against trellises
affixed to the clapboarded walls. At the second floor level are three symmetrically placed windows. A
glazed semicircular window ventilates the attic above.

Three symmetrically arranged shed dormers punctuate the south roof of the servants’ ell. The middle
dormer follows the pitch of the upper slope of the gambrel roof, while the two outer dormers have a
shallower pitch, allowing for taller windows and greater headroom within the servants’ bedchambers. The
three-part division of this elevation of the servants’ wing is continued on the first story. A central door
and a rectangular stair window, unified by a common drip cap, are flanked on either side by two six-over-
one double hung windows.

Beyond the east end of the 1891 servants’ wing is a low, gable roofed addition, capped by a slender
cupola and weather vane. Built in 1947 as a three-bay garage with doors that faced south onto a court
south of the servants’ ell, the garage replaced an earlier extension of the ell (see below, “Building
Evolution”). A woodshed and potting room, attached at right angles to the former garage, was also built
in 1947 and stands in the approximate location of a former ell extending off the rear of the servants’ ell.
The garage was altered on its interior to provide public toilets when the Hay Estate was opened as a
historic site in 1992.

Interior of the Summer House

The interior of the Hay house reached its present condition around 1930, although it retains some
elements dating from the 1890s. As they exist today, most rooms in the house were designed by Prentice
Sanger (1881-1964) of New York City and the Lake Sunapee vicinity, an architect and landscape designer
with a widespread practice during the first half of the twentieth-century. Sanger built a cottage for his
parents in the Sunapee area in 1908, built his own summer home on Lake Sunapee in 1915, and thereafter
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spent much time in the area, designing most of the twentieth-century alterations to the Hay Estate.
Clarence and Alice Hay employed Sanger to design the major renovations of the house beginning in
1915, virtually transforming the interiors of the house. Sanger continued to design subsequent minor
renovations through the 1940s.

The following discussion of the interior of the summer house is organized according the major building
campaigns on the first floor level, and also according to function, e.g. second floor bedrooms and the
servants’ ell first floor work rooms. Each section refers to accompanying floor plans for ease in
discerning the layout and evolution of the building.

1a. Summer House, 1891: First Story Stairhall and Parlors (see Additional Documentation)

The Hay house had its origins in 1891 and developed in several stages. The oldest part of the house is the
southernmost section, including part of the main dwelling and the servants’ ell. Designed by George
Hammond, a Cleveland architect, these portions of the house originally stood as separate units connected
to one another by a narrow, two-story gambrel link (see below, “Building Evolution™). The first story of
the summer house had a symmetrical arrangement of four rooms adjacent to a central stairhall. The
rooms in this portion of the building attained their present appearance in a major building campaign that
began about 1915 and extended to 1929.

The original main entrance for the cross stairhall that serves this older part of the house faces west
beneath the Doric porch. Remaining unaltered since 1891, the doorway is composed of glazed double
doors, flanked by half-length sidelight sashes with diagonal muntins that mirror similar muntins in the
door sashes. The door provides access to a broad stairhall that runs entirely through the building from
west to east, terminating to the east at a single exterior door and an adjacent interior door leading to the
servants’ ell. Two principal features mark the hallway: a fireplace and a stairway to the second story
bedrooms. With jambs of pressed red bricks and a mantelpiece in the federal style, the fireplace is located
against the north wall of the corridor near the western door. Since the dwelling had steam central heating
at least as early as 1897, this fireplace may reflect the late-nineteenth-century fashion for hallway hearths
rather than a necessary source of heat for the corridor, although it is possible that the house was entirely
heated by fireplaces when originally constructed in 1891 as a summer retreat. The corridor’s stairway
rises in a western direction along the northern wall to a landing, and then turns at right angles to the north
as it ascends to the second floor through an enclosed stairwell. A simple balustrade having a molded
handrail, square fluted newel posts, and inverted vasiform balusters, marks the lower run of this stairway.
The walls of the hallway are papered in an early-twentieth-century reproduction of an early-nineteenth-
century French scenic wallpaper.

In the southwest corner of the building is a library. This room is entered through a double, three-panel,
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door leading from the stairhall. The library has been remodeled twice, in 1915 and again in 1929, so the
present appearance of this room actually represents its third design. Its focal point is an elaborate
mantelpiece centered on the hallway (north) wall between a double, three-panel, door on the right and a
similar door that encloses a bookcase on the left. The mantelpiece is decorated with paterae and fluted
fans that are reminiscent of the elaborate federal-period mantelpieces of New York or New Jersey.
Individual plaster elliptical arches enclose all three features along the north wall. The formality of the
room is maintained by a deep plaster ceiling cove that springs from a gilded rope molding near the top of
the walls. The two exterior walls are fitted with floor-to-ceiling bookcases. Two nine-over-nine porch
windows set into deep embrasures interrupt the west wall, while double French doors with eighteen lights
pierce the south wall. The doors are set beneath an elliptical plaster arch and open onto a rose terrace.
The eastern wall of the library is paneled and has a chair rail. A 42-inch-wide, six-panel door in the
center of this wall leads to the adjacent dining room. All the library woodwork is painted light green,
highlighted in gilt, and glazed. The floor is Circassian walnut.

East of the library, and also accessible from the stairhall, is a paneled dining room. Like the adjacent
library, this room has an elaborate fireplace, located along the stairhall wall, as its focal point. The
fireplace has Siena marble jambs and a polished steel coal grate, all set within a Georgian style white
marble mantelpiece supported by pilasters. A high wooden overmantel panel with eared architraves and a
broken pediment at its top surmounts the mantelshelf. To the left of the fireplace is a dish closet, and to
the right is the doorway leading to the stairhall. Set above both doors is a carved wooden fan in the
Adamesque style. The walls of the room have a flat dado with a molded baseboard and chair rail. Above
the chair rail, the walls are paneled with a single range of high raised panels. The comice of the dining
room is an ogee crown molding above a row of large dentils. A wide, six-panel door in the west wall of
the room, capped by a broken scrolled pediment, leads to the adjacent library. A door of smaller scale
and without ornamentation, located on the opposite wall, leads to a butler’s pantry in the adjoining
servants’ ell. North of this door is a false window glazed with mirrored glass. Centered on the south wall
of the room are French doors with fifteen lights. Like those in the adjacent library, these doors offer a
vista across a rose terrace toward the alpine garden. The dining room was fitted with its present
woodwork in 1920.

On the opposite (north) side of the stairhall are the two other first floor rooms of the 1891 portion of the
house. At the northwestern corner of the original building is a parlor or living room that was finished in
its present form in 1924. This room is paneled on all four walls in deal, which is varnished and waxed to
reveal its knotty grain; bolection moldings border the panels. The cornice of the room is composed of a
heavy crown molding set above a deeply-projecting soffit that is supported by widely-spaced modillions.
Like the other three first-story rooms that were remodeled after 1915, the parlor has an imposing
mantelpiece that forms the focal point of the chamber. Jambs of dark, highly-figured marble surround the
fireplace. Above the hearth opening is a wooden shelf supported by a deep cyma enriched by carved



(NPS Form 10-900-a OMB No. 10240018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES Hay Estate
Continuation Sheet Newbury, Merrimack Co., NH
Section 7 Page 7 _

acanthus leaves. Above this is a rectangular overmantel panel in deal with a bolection enframement.
Fluted wooden pilasters standing on pedestals flank each side of the fireplace, and dominate the corners
of the south wall of the room. To the east of the fireplace is a doorway leading to the south hallway of the
house; to the west is an open beaufait with a paneled back, shelves of a scalloped outline, and paneled
cupboard doors below. Two French doors with ten lights open onto the piazza along the western wall of
the room. An elaborate doorway with a broken triangular pediment, all executed in deal, dominates the
paneled north wall. This door leads to the northern hallway of the house, which lies beyond the original
1891 portion of the building.

The fourth room of the 1891 section of the house stands at the northeastern corner of the original portion
of the building. It is a first-story bedchamber, reserved for John Hay, with a bathroom adjoining to the
south. The room has plain plastered walls, floors of southern yellow pine, and simple molded baseboards,
doors and window casings. This room was never extensively remodeled under architect Prentice Sanger.
Its details largely reflect the appearance it assumed during the 1897 remodelings that accompanied the
enlargement of the house. Three doors interrupt the plain walls: one opens to the northern hallway; a
second is accessible from the narrow servants’ corridor, which bisects the house along a north/south axis
and connects the original 1891 stairhall to the more formal 1915 stairhall; and the third provides access to
the bathroom, furnished with a tiled floor, toilet, sink and bathtub.

1b. Servants’ Wing, 1891 (see Additional Documentation)

A butler’s pantry occupies the space within the gambrel-roofed connector between the main house and the
servants’ wing. Cabinets with double, twelve-light doors, and counters, are arranged along the perimeter
of the pantry’s walls and provide storage space for dining utensils. A nine-light casement window,
hinged at its base, and a five-cross panel door provide light from a well-lit hallway along the north wall,
while a single-paned casement window provides light from the rose terrace to the south. A two-panel
pocket door, counterbalanced with weights hidden within the jambs, provides access to the cooking
kitchen located to the east of the pantry. A large cast iron wood stove, c. 1907, with an iron hood
dominates the eastern wall of the kitchen, while a counter top of c. 1935, with cabinets and drawers, lines
the entire western wall. Two slender one-over-one double hung windows on the south wall light the
kitchen and provide a view to the service court. To the north of the kitchen is a solitary wash and drying
room for dishes, glasses and pots and pans. Two casement windows hinged at their bases provide light
from the well-lit hallway along the north wall. The eastern portion of the servants’ ell is divided by a
east/west central hallway. This passage is flanked by two large rooms: the servants’ dining room to the
south and an ironing room along the north wall. A stairhall with an open string stair, simply detailed,
rises on a north/south axis to the servants’ quarters on the second floor.

1¢. North Stairhall and Entrances, c. 1915 (see Additional Documentation)
North of the original portion of the house is a stairhall that was constructed in 1915 to unite the 1891
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portion of the dwelling with a semi-detached unit that had been built in 1897. On the exterior of the
house, the hallway is expressed by the broad, gambrel cross gable that punctuates both the east and west
sides of the dwelling. The hallway passes through the house from the east, where it provides access from
the automobile courtyard through a glazed and tiled vestibule, to the west, where doors placed below the
landing of a staircase open onto the piazza.

Designed by architect Prentice Sanger, the hallway displays refined colonial revival detailing. Its focal
point is a staircase that rises along the northern wall of the corridor to a broad landing, and then ascends
to the second story with a run of stairs finished beneath with a plastered soffit. The staircase has a square,
paneled newel post, turned angle posts, thin vasiform balusters, a molded handrail with bold ramping and
easing, and sawn brackets on its open stringers. Its landing is lighted by a three-part window at the
second floor level of the western wall; a matching window lights the eastern end of the second floor
hallway. On the first floor, the lower walls of the hallway have paneled wainscoting; on the second, the
walls are plastered and wallpapered above a molded baseboard.

1d. Cottage Wing, 1897 (see Additional Documentation)

Beyond the northern cross stairhall is a portion of the building that was constructed as a semi-detached
house in 1897. The purpose of the building is not certain, nor is its means of linkage to the original house
known. If there was a formal, enclosed passageway, then perhaps the 1897 house was built for additional
space for family members visiting for summer holiday. If there was no linkage between the two
buildings, then perhaps the 1897 building was built as a separate guest cottage.

Although the impetus for the building of the north wing is not known, two scenarios seem plausible.
Since all four of the Hay children were in their teens and twenties, they may have wanted more private
rooms. Prior to his return to politics as Secretary of State for Presidents McKinley and Roosevelt
between 1897-1905, Hay may have thought that the family would spend more time at the estate, thus
needing an increase in living space.

Like the 1891 portion of the house, the addition was remodeled in later years. On the first floor, the 1897
addition is composed of two principal rooms entered from the south through a vestibule, floored with
Mexican tile. Groups of four tiles create repeating nautical/compass motifs, each design having a yellow
octagonal border alternating between a brown interlocking meander that weaves and interconnects the
tiles. West of the tiled vestibule is a small flower-arranging room fitted with sinks and cabinets. To the
east is a closet.

Each of the two principal rooms is heated by a fireplace set within a broad chimney stack that rises
through the ridge of the roof. The eastern room, Alice Hay’s bed chamber, is characterized by simple
molded baseboards and door and window casings. The room has an arched brick fireplace with a simple
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wooden mantelpiece, and a large walk-in closet.

The western room has similar detailing, except that its chimney face is composed of mottled tan Roman
bricks and its broad, arched fireplace opening has no mantelpiece. The only connection between the two
rooms was once through a suite of small rooms on the northern end of the house that included a western
entry hall, a central dressing room, and a bathroom on the east. A wide framed opening was cut through
the partitioning wall of the two main rooms in 1993 when both rooms were fitted with bookshelves and
remodeled as a library.

le. Second Floor Bedrooms (see Additional Documentation)

The second story of the 1891 section (the southern portion) of the house retains some features from its
original construction and others from a general remodeling that took place when the adjoining cottage
wing was built in 1897. These rooms are characterized by simple detailing, with plastered walls and
ceilings, six-over-one double hung windows, molded baseboards, door and window casings, and floors of
southern yellow pine.

The two western bedchambers in the 1891 portion of the house were given their present appearance in
1915, when the two sections of the house were unified by construction of the northern cross stairhall.
Along the north wall in the southwest bedchamber is a fireplace with a molded and eared architrave, a
mantelpiece frieze with applied moldings that define a rectangular panel, and a strongly-projecting shelf.
The fireplace is flanked by arched six-panel doors, that on the east opening into a closet and that on the
west (left) leading to the adjacent bathroom with an interconnecting doorway into the other bed
chamber’s bath. The fireplace in the northwest bedchamber has a mantelpiece with an eared architrave, a
plain frieze, and a mantelshelf supported on denticulated bed moldings. On each side of the fireplace are
arched, six-panel doors, the eastern door leading to a deep closet and the western door leading to an
adjacent bathroom. Other woodwork in these two bedrooms is simple but well detailed.

The two eastern bedchambers with an adjoining common bathroom are less refined in their detailing than
the bedchambers across the hall. The width of the northeast bedroom is narrow, as two deep closets
occupy floor space along the central hallway. The southeast room overlooks the Pebble Court through
two windows and has a centrally located fireplace. Located to the south of these bedchambers are the
“nanny’s” bedroom and nursery. These rooms are separated by a hallway that connects the main house to
the servants’ wing. The “nanny’s” bedroom is simply embellished with a built-in wardrobe and a view to
the pebble court, while the nursery has two small closets, a built-in dresser with drawers, and a dramatic

southern view of Lake Sunapee overlooking the rose terrace and alpine garden below.

North of the northern cross stairhall, the second floor level of the 1897 wing is now a large, unfinished
attic. This section of the house formerly had three bedrooms, two bathrooms, and various closets. Most
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of the partitions in this area, together with dormer windows, were removed in 1947 as part of an attempt
to reduce upkeep of the house and taxes.

Bedrooms in the servants’ ell, extending easterly from the main dwelling, are characterized by plain
plaster walls and simple woodwork. Some of these features, especially on the second story, appear to
survive unchanged from construction of this part of the building in 1891. There are four bedrooms on the
second floor of this ell. The two rooms along the north wall are narrow and compact in contrast to the
two bedrooms across the hall. A small bath with a separate water closet is situated at the eastern end of
the central hallway, and a nearby elaborate linen closet, fitted with pine cabinets and drawers, survives
from the original 1891 house.

2. Lakeshore Cottage, 1914, Contributing Building

Some distance northwest of the main house and reached by a winding woods road is a lakeshore cottage
built for Clarence and Alice Hay at the time of their marriage in 1914. Standing in a small clearing near
the shore, this cottage was designed in the colonial revival style by architect Prentice Sanger. It is one-
and-a-half stories high and has an L-shaped floor plan that embraces a small enclosed garden with a
circular reflecting pool. The roof is covered with sawn wooden shingles, the walls are clad with split
wooden shingles, painted white, and the windows are all six-over-six double-hung sash. The main
building of the cottage resembles a low “Cape Cod” house and has three evenly spaced sashes on its south
elevation. Its east and west gable ends have a three-part window placed at the center of the first story and
a fan sash in each gable. A large brick chimney rises within the structure, piercing the roof at its
intersection with the northern ell. Within, this main section of the cottage is a single spacious room with
glazed corner cupboards, window seats beneath its eastern and western windows, a plate rail surrounding
the room, and a large fireplace projecting from its northern wall. The walls of the room are paneled
below a chair rail and have a crown molding at the ceiling. Two deep, cased summer beams flank the
fireplace and extend north-and-south across the ceiling of the room.

Extending north beyond the brick chimney in the main part of the cottage is a story-and-a-half kitchen ell.
The ell, whose massing resembles a center chimney “Cape Cod” house, has an asymmetrical east-facing
facade with a colonial revival gabled portico near its center. The portico is marked by an elliptical arched
tympanum creating a barrel vault ceiling that ends at a false louvered fanlight above a six-panel door with
sidelights. The doorway is flanked by a single window to the south and two windows to the north, all of
which light a narrow hallway that extends along the eastern wall of the ell. The western elevation of the
ell has four evenly spaced windows that provide views of a garden terrace from the kitchen, bathroom,
and the northern bedchamber. Centered within the first floor plan is a full bath with a fireplace,
accessible from a hallway door and from the southwest corner of the bedroom. The ell’s roof is pierced
by two dormers on both the east and west slopes. These light an unfinished attic space and bedroom
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located above the bedchamber below. Attached to the northern end of the ell, whose side wall projects
beyond the wall plane of the cottage’s eastern facade, is a small gable-roofed woodshed. The cottage ell
has plastered walls and well-detailed wooden trim along with six-over-six double hung sashes.

The area immediately south and west of the cottage is a level terrace, surrounded by a wall composed of
low brick piers that support panels of heavy wooden lattice in alternating patterns. Within this enclosure,
brick paths and seating areas are interspersed within beds of daylily, iris, and other hardy perennials. The
area embraced by the two main components of the cottage forms a sheltered west-facing terrace that has a
circular reflecting pool much like that in the stone-walled enclosures of the Old Garden. The area to the
east is a level grassy automobile terrace formed by a wide sweeping elliptical fieldstone retaining wall
with the spring house located at its center and in line with the cottage’s entrance.

3. Garage, c.1915, Contributing Building

North of the summer house, and beyond a screening of dense vegetation around the Old Garden, is a
large, wood-framed garage. This building has a gambrel roof with a molded wooden curb at the break in
pitch between the two roof slopes. Although the date of its construction is not known, this building is
shown on a topographic plan of the estate drawn in 1915 by architect Prentice Sanger. Built on a
foundation of mortared fieldstone, the garage measures about 47 by 30 feet and faces the southwest. A
broad vehicle opening with a sliding door is situated left of center on the southern elevation, and
immediately to the left of this entrance is a hinged door with a glazed upper section. A window near the
eastern end of the front wall has thirty-over-two sashes and lights a wood-sheathed room at the eastern
end of the first floor. The western, end gable elevation of the garage has a group of three similar
windows, joined by mullions on the first floor. On the second story, two evenly-spaced sashes of the
same configuration light an unfinished attic space. The eastern end has two widely-spaced windows on
the first story. Two similar windows in the gable light a room that is partitioned off from the remainder
of the attic space and is sheathed in beaded ceiling boards. The north or rear elevation of the garage has
four windows with the same sash configuration as the rest of the building. The interior of the garage has
a paved concrete floor while the walls and ceilings are plastered. Running the length of the first floor
ceiling is a boxed beam. An enclosed stairway in the southwestern corner of the building rises to the
unfinished second floor attic and the adjacent finished room.

4. Gate Lodge, 1931, Contributing Building

At the main entrance to the estate, adjacent to New Hampshire Route 103 A, stands a gate lodge that was
designed by Prentice Sanger in 1930 and was finished in 1931. This house simulates the vernacular
“Cape Cod” farmhouses of the region, having a symmetrical north-facing facade, a massive central
chimney rising through the center of its roof, and shuttered double hung sash. Like the lakeshore cottage
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built seventeen years earlier, the gate lodge was once roofed with sawn cedar shingles (changed to asphalt
in recent years), and its walls are covered with split cedar shingles, painted white. All first floor windows
are eight-over-eight sashes while six-over-six sashes light the second story. The north facade of the gate
lodge has a well-detailed Federal-style central doorway, flanked on each side by a single window. The
east gable end, facing the road, has two windows symmetrically aligned on each floor. The western gable
end has a single window and a shed-roofed porch on the first story, and two windows above on the
second-floor. Enclosed and adapted as an accessible entry and toilet room for visitors in 1993, the porch
was originally screened. Centered on the rear or south elevation of the gate lodge are a covered back
porch with an attached set of steps descending along the edge of the house to a rear courtyard. Directly
above the porch roof is a gable-roofed dormer that lights a second-floor bathroom. Two windows west of
the back porch light a single large room on the first story of the house.

Attached to the rear of the gate lodge is a gable-roofed ell, with its eaves somewhat lower than those of
the main building. This ell encloses a three-bay garage and an attached shop on the first story, and a
separate two-room apartment on the second story. Extending at right angles to the end of the garage,
parallel with the axis of the gate lodge roof, is a gable-roofed shed with open stalls that face north,
creating a three-sided courtyard.

Inside, the gate lodge has two main rooms on the first floor and three rooms on the second. A fireplace
with a well-detailed Federal-style mantelpiece is the focal point of the east parlor. On the west, extending
through the entire depth of the building from front to back, a room that was originally the kitchen has
been adapted as an exhibit or meeting space. A stairhall, occupying the central bay of the dwelling,
contains a set of stairs that rise to the second floor along the eastern wall from a landing located at the
front door. From this landing, two steps descend to the parlor and the former kitchen below. Two
chimneys, one serving the fireplace in the east parlor and the second serving a former kitchen on the west,
flank the stair hall and rise along its walls. These two separate stacks merge in a brick vault above the
second floor ceiling, rising through the roof as a single large central chimney.

Estate Structures

S. Boathouse, c. 1960, Noncontributing Structure

Northwest of the lakeshore cottage, on the shore of the lake, is an eight-foot by eighteen-foot boathouse
resting on cinder blocks. The boathouse is a narrow, gable-roofed structure of framed construction, with
double batten doors on the landward side. The building is sheathed in waney-edged pine slabs, applied
horizontally, roofed with asphalt shingles, and detailed with flat stock rake and fascia boards with open
soffits that reveal 2” by 4” rafters.
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6. Dock, 1996, Noncontributing Structure

Located near the boathouse and reached by a path lined with wild blueberry bushes, is an L-shaped
wooden dock constructed with pressure treated lumber. A narrow rectangular pier rests on glacially

rounded stones along the shoreline and leads out over the water to a square floating crib with a swimming
ladder.

Water System

7. Sand Filter House, 1924 , Contributing Structure
8. Reservoir House, 1924, Contributing Structure

South of the gate lodge, at the western edge of New Hampshire Route 103A, stand two water supply
structures for the estate’s fountain and pool system. The first of these structures, near the road, is a sand
filter house. The filter house is a gable-roofed, framed structure standing over a rectangular masonry
cistern measuring approximately eleven by twenty-one feet. The roof is covered with asphalt shingles,
the sides are clad in cedar shingles, and the rafter tails are covered with fascia boards. Batten doors made
from diagonal 2 4” tongue-and-groove ceiling boards, bordered by flat stock, open at both gable ends.
The sand filter house receives water from Beech Brook, a small stream that flows from Sunset Hill down
to Lake Sunapee and bisects the estate along an east/west course. Piped underground from the sand filter
house, the water flows through a four-inch diameter plastic conduit to the reservoir house. The reservoir
house is fourteen feet square and ten feet high, and is similar in design to the filter house except for
having exposed rafter tails and a corrugated sheet metal roof. Here, water is impounded in a cistern or
reservoir and delivered by gravity through underground and surface pipes to the fountains and pools in the
gardens below.

9. Pump House, 1938, Contributing Structure

On the shore of Lake Sunapee near Minute Island is a small pump house that delivered lake water to the
plumbing system of the main house by way of an electric pump and a system of iron pipes. The
September 21, 1938 hurricane uprooted trees and altered the Beech Brook watershed, causing damage to
the flow of water into the brook and temporarily drying up the gravity flow water system from the sand
filter and reservoir houses to the summer house and gardens. Because of the need for household and
drinking water, the pump house was built to supply the summer house with lake water, “whose purity was
seldom questioned in those days.”' Neglected and partially standing, the pump house is an eight- by
sixteen-foot end-gabled rectangular structure of frame construction, with its axis parallel to the shore line.
The building is sheathed with random-width beaded tongue-and-groove boards on its walls, and cedar
shingles over wide sheathing boards cover the roof. Two fixed sash with four panes of glass, arranged
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horizontally, pierce the west and east walls. On the south end is a batten door made from beaded tongue-
and-groove boards and hinged on the exterior. A two-ply batten door, with vertical and horizontal
tongue-and-groove flat stock boards on opposite sides, is hinged on the inside. Beginning in 1991, water
for the main house was provided by an artesian well and pump installed within the service court.

10. Spring House, 1914, Contributing Structure

Built within the fieldstone retaining wall to the east of the Lakeshore Cottage is the spring house. The
house once cooled and maintained perishable food such as meats, fish, and dairy products. Cold spring
water flowed into the house through two conduits, running along two gutters within the concrete floor and
out through a drain. The structure is of a rustic "back to the woods" style, characteristic of early-
twentieth-century lakeside or mountain cabins. The spring house stone walls are built of mortared
rounded fieldstone and are integral with the stone retaining wall. The house has a semicircular arched
batten door with a louvered vent, hung on decorative fingered iron hinges. While the stone structure is
approximately ten feet square, its gabled roof, supported by two naturally stained wood diagonal braces,
overhangs the front elevation by two feet. The roof, covered with rough-edged slate and capped by a
rolled cresting, is of purlin construction. It is sheathed with narrow beaded tongue-and-groove roof
boards that are exposed at the overhang and have darkened naturally to enhance the rustic effect.
Although the spring house is no longer used because of the advent of electricity and mechanical
refrigeration, spring water continues to flow through its channels, keeping it the coolest building on the
estate during the summer.

Estate Sites: Lawns, Terraces, Gardens and Courts

11. Pebble Court, c. 1916, Contributing Site

Enclosed by the eastern elevation of the main house and the northern elevation of the servants’ wing and
garage, the Pebble Court is one of the most heavily landscaped zones close to the building. Entering the
courtyard from the north, the driveway is defined by a rockery constructed of fieldstone and landscaped
with low-growing plants. Two Arcadian statues in the eighteenth-century style are placed in recesses in
the yew hedge that borders the southern edge of the courtyard. The eastern edge of the court is marked by
a mortared fieldstone retaining wall with a wrought iron gate aligned with the main door of the house.
Behind the gate rises a stairway of split granite slabs leading to an elevated allée lined with white lilacs
and terminating at a glazed earthenware statue of Hebe. Elsewhere, the courtyard is marked by random
plantings of lilacs, vines, other annual/perennial plants. At the southwest corner of the court grows a
mature Kousa dogwood, displaying a profusion of four-petal bracts in the springtime.

12. Service Court, c. 1916, Contributing Site
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The eastern zone of the area south of the house, beyond the screening fountain wall, is a service
courtyard. This yard is reached by a winding driveway that leaves the main road to the house at a point
east of the dwelling, circling around to the south and terminating at a three-stall garage, converted to
public rest rooms in 1992, at the eastern end of the servants’ ell. Attached at right angles to the eastern
end of the former garage is a small gable-roofed structure used as a woodshed and potting room. The
garage courtyard is separated from the garden area to the west by the high stone fountain wall (described
in detail below); the only passage from one side of the wall to the other is provided by the narrow
gateway near the southern end of the fountain wall. An old growth maple tree towers above the service
court, once providing abundant shade, but now in declining heath.

13. Drying Yard, c. 1915, Contributing Site

Located to the south of the service court is the estate’s laundry drying yard. Sheltered from the rest of the
estate by a twenty-foot-tall yew hedge along the northern and western perimeter, and by the woods on the
east, the yard provided a sheltered place to dry the family’s laundry. Today the yard serves as a garden
nursery for the estate, providing a sunny area to cultivate hardy perennials and to propagate annuals for
future transplantation into the alpine and terrace gardens.

14. Rose Terrace, c. 1924, Contributing Site

The rose terrace beyond the southern end of the main house extends southward some 97 feet to a low,
mortared fieldstone wall, built as part of the redesign of this area in 1924. In the center of the fieldstone
wall is an opening that offers a gateway to an alpine or rock garden that spreads itself across a declivity
below the terrace, eventually merging with natural woods that extend to the eastern shore of Lake
Sunapee.
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